1959

Southern Pacific Company v. Mrs. Helen Sheehan Arthur et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The above entitled three cases were consolidated for trial before the District Court of Box Elder County, Utah. Each is a proceeding in eminent domain wherein Southern Pacific, plaintiff and appellant, filed suit to condemn a

right of way over and upon certain grazing lands owned in fee by the different respondents and upon two mining "claims" in which defendants Oman and Chournos and some of their family claim an interest. All of the real property involved is situated on Promontory Point, Box Elder County, Utah. The said right of way was needed to obtain gravel and other earth material as fill for appellant's new railroad bed running west across Great Salt Lake from Promontory Point. The trial court, over respondent's objections, granted appellant an order of immediate occupancy in each case and found the necessity existed for the requested right of way. With the approval of respective counsel, the court then proceeded with the trial of the question of damages in the consolidated cases.

While the pleadings of respondents as well as their opening arguments endeavor to include numerous so-called elements of damage resulting from appellant's condemnation, the actual trial of the cases here on appeal resolved itself into an attempt of respondents to establish two damage items: (1) Market value of the gravel taken in each case, and (2) Loss or damage from interference with sheep operations, or a "severance" damage as the trial court described it. (Tr. 151-153) The evidence presented was directed to those items. It is that evidence and the court's rulings thereon which form the subject of this appeal.

The pertinent facts of the case are as follows: Defendants' Exhibit 1, admitted into evidence, is a colored map showing the general location of the gravel pits exca-

vated by appellant, and the ownership of the various tracts occupied by appellant under the order of occupancy. Southern Pacific Company, the appellant, used the gravel and other material taken from those pits, along with material from adjoining lands of others, to construct the new railroad fill across the Lake from Promontory Point. The parties in each of the cases stipulated at the trial upon the amounts of material taken from the respondents' respective lands, and the judgments for the gravel material are based upon those amounts. The type of material taken was substantially the same in each case, and consisted of gravel and other earth material as found upon the ground. Appellant used the material without any processing or other treatment, and placed it directly along the proposed new railroad line in the Lake. Approximately 44 million cubic yards of said material of all types were deposited in the construction work, but the quantity used from respondents' properties amounted to approximately one million nine hundred thousand cubic yards in the Hunter-Arthur case (#8071), about two million one hundred thousand cubic yards in the Nick Chournos case (#8191), and a little more than a million in the remaining case. (Tr. 303, 361-362) The evidence disclosed no special use to which the said gravel could be applied without some treatment, and respondents did not produce evidence that any such material had been sold or used for any purpose from their Promontory lands prior to appellant's construction of the fill. In fact, the evidence revealed that there would be no actual demand for the material at any time in the foreseeable future. (Tr. 32, 38, 51, 60 and 94)

Respondents' only use of their Promontory property up to the time of trial had been as grazing land for sheep operations carried on by respondent Chournos and by lessees of the Hunter-Arthur lands. (Tr. 170). Mrs. Hunter and Mrs. Arthur do not own livestock and have carried on no such operations upon the lands involved in case #8071. (Tr. 169-170)

The evidence is that the two gravel pits dug by appellant upon the Chournos lands cover 7.38 acres of a 40 acre tract temporarily taken and occupied by appellant in one pit area under the order of immediate occupancy, and 29.79 acres of a 160 acre tract to the south temporarily occupied in the other pit area. This latter tract has no relation to the "severance" damage issue. The two Hunter-Arthur gravel pits excavated by appellant cover 18.44 acres of a 100 acre tract taken, and 17.92 acres in the other tract (140 acres) occupied under the court order. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4)

The whole borrow pit area #2, which includes among other lands the aforesaid small portions belonging to respondents, covers approximately 344 acres. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4). That is the borrow pit supposedly causing the "severance" damage. We therefore see that the Chournos' land in that area excavated is only 1/49th of the whole pit, and Hunter-Arthur's excavation in that pit area covers only about 1/9th of the said pit.

The court made the order of occupancy on October 25, 1957, in the Hunter-Arthur case and on June 24, 1958, in the Chournos and the Chournos-Oman suits. Appellant, on or before June 30, 1959, surrendered possession

to respondents of all the lands held under the orders of occupancy, and as of that date relinquished any rights it had therein by reason of the lawsuits here on appeal.

The testimony of respondents' own witnesses disclosed that the gravel pits made by plaintiff upon respondents' lands do not prevent the passage or running of livestock around or near them from one part of respondents' lands to another (Tr. 230). The map (Defendants' Exhibit 1) and the testimony established that no legal "severance" occurred to respondents' lands by plaintiff's taking.

The court submitted to the jury a form of special verdict, containing a question in each case as to the value of the fill material removed by plaintiff; and questions in case #8071 and case #8191 as to the "severance" damage resulting to respondents from plaintiff's condemnation of their lands. The jury returned an unconscionable verdict upon each item submitted. The court entered judgment immediately upon the verdict for the fill material, but held up judgment on the "severance" items until it heard arguments upon plaintiff's motion for a new trial. The court at first sustained the motion as to the "severance" item in each of the two cases, but conditional upon respondents' accepting and plaintiff's paying a reduced amount of such damage. Plaintiff declined to pay the reduced sum agreed to by defendants, and the court then completely overruled the motion for a new trial. Plaintiff here appeals from the court's judgment and its denial of plaintiff's motion for a new trial in the case and upon each item of damage; from the court's admission of certain evidence; from its submission to the jury of the

question of “severance” damage, and from other errors in law committed by the court.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF CERTAIN WITNESSES OF RESPONDENTS AS TO THE VALUE OF THE GRAVEL AND FILL MATERIAL TAKEN BY APPELLANT; AND IN RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE THE RESPONDENTS’ EXHIBIT 2 SHOWING OTHER GRAVEL SALES.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY SUBMITTING TO THE JURY THE QUESTION OF SEVERANCE DAMAGES, AND BY ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE CERTAIN TESTIMONY PERTAINING THERETO.

(a) THE RESPONDENTS FAILED TO PRODUCE COMPETENT EVIDENCE THAT OTHER SIMILAR LANDS WERE UNAVAILABLE.

(b) THE DAMAGES TESTIFIED TO BY RESPONDENTS’ WITNESSES WERE FROM APPELLANT’S OPERATION UPON LANDS NOT OWNED BY RESPONDENTS.

(c) THE SO-CALLED “SEVERANCE” DAM-

AGES TESTIFIED TO BY RESPONDENTS' WITNESSES CONSISTED OF DAMAGES SUPPOSED TO HAVE RESULTED TO A BUSINESS CARRIED ON BY RESPONDENTS, OR THEIR LESSEE, NAMELY SHEEP OPERATIONS.

(d) RESPONDENTS' DAMAGES WERE ARRIVED AT BY ADDING THE VALUES OF DIFFERENT USES FOR THE LAND TAKEN.

(e) RESPONDENTS PRESENTED NO COMPETENT EVIDENCE OF THE MARKET VALUE OF THEIR REMAINING LANDS CLAIMED TO HAVE BEEN DAMAGED.

(f) THE TESTIMONY DOES NOT ESTABLISH ANY SEVERANCE OF RESPONDENTS' LANDS AS THAT TERM IS USED IN THE COURT DECISIONS AND THE STATUTES.

POINT III

THE VERDICT IS EXCESSIVE AND THE RESULT OF PREJUDICE OF THE JURY.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

POINT NO. I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF CERTAIN WITNESSES OF RESPONDENTS AS TO THE VALUE OF THE GRAVEL AND FILL MATERIAL TAKEN BY APPELLANT; AND IN RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE THE DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT 2 SHOWING OTHER GRAVEL SALES.

The opinions of the witnesses called by respondents to establish the value of the fill material taken for appellant's railroad fill were based on sheer speculation. Not one witness established any present market value, or even one arising in the near future. To appreciate the incompetency of the evidence presented by those witnesses, one must review their testimony in some detail.

The first witness called by respondents, a Mr. Storey, was not qualified as an expert to render an opinion on values. He was not connected in any way with the gravel business, and knew nothing of the local market conditions for gravel. (Tr. 22-35) His testimony was that he had not made any appraisal of gravel properties for ten years, and he had no knowledge of similar sales in the area, nor had he made an effort to learn whether such sales had occurred. (Tr. 25 and 26) Over appellant's objection, the court permitted this witness to give his opinion of the "value of the material." An even more serious error is that Mr. Storey's opinion was admittedly based upon a "future value" of such deposits of material and a demand "not too

far away.” (Tr. 26-27-32 and 38) Furthermore, the questions by respondents’ attorney to Mr. Storey referred to “value” of the material and not market value. (Tr. 25-31) This witness also testified that he did not know of anyone who would pay even close to the figure he gave as a value per cubic yard for the gravel taken. (Tr. 37)

The second witness for respondents, Mr. J. P. Gibbons, testified that he is president of Gibbons & Reed, a construction firm in Utah, and had some experience with fill material and buying and selling of sand and gravel within the western states. Mr. Gibbons’ opinion of the type or quality of the material removed by appellant was arrived at primarily from his brief inspection of some of the subject Promontory area before the pits were begun or any material removed. In fact, he gave as one of his qualifications for opinion testimony a plane trip he made over the area. (Tr. 43-44) As in the case of witness Storey’s interrogation, nearly all of the questions directed by respondents’ counsel to Mr. Gibbons referred to “value” and not market value.

Furthermore, Mr. Gibbons’ testimony is replete with statements that his opinion is pure speculation and that he was speaking of a “future” value. (Tr. 48 and 49). Answering a direct question, he affirmed that his estimate was a “speculative” value at this time. (Tr. 49 and 50). He testified that he did not know of any one who would buy the material, and that his firm would not offer anything for the gravel taken, but “we buy land on a speculative basis in the hope that the future will make it of some value and it is conceivable that we would consider it in that light. I have no opinion as to what that would be.”

(Tr. 48) When asked whether he would consider paying 5¢ for the material (his given opinion as to value), he gave the unconsidered and irrelevant reply that he would “if he had that contract,” referring to the contract appellant railroad had let for constructing the fill project.

(Tr. 47) Mr. Gibbons testified on cross examination that he considered the gravel materials and deposits of respondents as “a natural resource that has a market or *has a value when a market is established*. . . . There’s a fixed number of yards of material in existence. Currently we are depleting the materials that are closest to the point of usage . . . so any gravel that is of a satisfactory nature has a value on it. And the time and conditions will establish what that value will be at the time of consumption, but we would look on it ourselves, it is like dollars that are in the ground that *will some day have a value* (italics ours.)” (Tr. 51 and 52) From these statements by Mr. Gibbons, it is readily apparent that he was guessing at some value for the material taken by appellant, and that he did not consider it to have any present value as that term is used in a business sense and by the court in eminent domain cases. His testimony amounts to sheer speculation about a future value for some indefinite use at some indefinite time. Appellant submits that if such opinion testimony is allowed to stand in condemnation proceedings, the whole principle of just compensation for the award of damages is destroyed, and every party, whether public or private, faced with the necessity of condemning property, will be at the mercy of such speculation and will find the cost of acquisition prohibitive. The court’s admission into evidence of Mr. Gibbons’ opinion of the

“value” of respondents’ fill material was so prejudicial as to constitute fatal error. (For a contrast in the lower court’s ruling upon qualification of experts on gravel valuation see the discussion about Mr. Bagley’s testimony.) (Tr. 296-297)

There is also reversible error in the court’s allowing Mr. Gibbons to testify about the use of other fill materials in the “State of Utah,” and on various projects in Salt Lake County. (Tr. 54) The general uses related by the witness were not connected in any way to a use or even a possible market for the material on Promontory Point. Mr. Gibbons never identified his road projects which used the fill material except to say “the new interstate system in the state.” (Tr. 54) His testimony was certainly irrelevant.

Mr. Gibbons’ opinion in court of 5¢ per cubic yard as a value of respondents’ material appears to have been based primarily upon a document respondents introduced as their Exhibit 2, and identified by Mr. Gibbons as a survey from his office of different gravel pits from which his firm had purchased gravel in the years 1953 through 1958. (Tr. 56-59) The court admitted this Exhibit in evidence over appellant’s objection, and that ruling violates a very important principle of damages in condemnation cases. The Exhibit contains references to purchases by Gibbons & Reed of gravel from California and Nevada, and various Utah locations not pertinent to the local area now under consideration. This highly incompetent and prejudicial piece of evidence is alone sufficient to compel a reversal of the lower court’s decision in all three cases here on appeal. For example, the second “NOTE” on the Ex-

hibit refers to gravel material owned by Gibbons & Reed, and states that the materials were "charged to the projects at . . . 5¢ per cubic yard." How can any value or price set under those circumstances be considered a sale of similar material under similar circumstances in the present case! (Neither the Exhibit nor the testimony indicates to what projects that "NOTE" refers.) Such an accounting procedure or entry whereby the contractor's own material is charged to the job at so much per yard is not a sale at all, regardless of the time or the place of the project. Another example of the shocking incompetency of this Exhibit 2 is its last "NOTE" at the bottom of the page where appears the information that Geneva Steel Company "offered" to sell some three million yards of fill material "at 5¢ per cubic yard." (The time and circumstances of the offer were never disclosed). That statement in the Exhibit cannot be considered as any reference to a similar sale of similar materials. An offer to sell, especially by one not a party, is no proof of a sale or of value. See *Volume 1, Orgel on Valuation Under Eminent Domain*, Second Edition, page 620-622, and the cases therein cited. This Exhibit 2 accompanied the jurors to the jury room for their deliberations in the trial court. No further argument is needed to point out what prejudicial affect such irrelevant and incompetent information must have had upon the minds of these jurors.

The next witness called by respondents was Mr. Fife. He testified that his gravel company had paid all the way from 2¢ to 10¢ "on an average," for sand and gravel in place, and that the average price would be about 5¢ per cubic yard. In stating his opinion of the value of the ma-

terial taken by appellant, this witness actually testified as to what he and his firm had paid for sand and gravel, but did not state where those purchases were made or what type of material was bought. His opinion as to the value of the respondents' material was not a true opinion of any market value for the material in our cases. On cross examination, Mr. Fife testified that he still held the opinion that the respondents' gravel material had no commercial value at any time, including the dates when the appellant took the material; that the only party who would buy the material would be the appellant railroad and that at the time of taking, "there would be no market for it." (Tr. 68 and 69) The witness further testified that he had examined the material and the gravel pits of respondents just prior to the time of the trial and that the gravel would require processing to be used for concrete aggregate; that because of the haulage cost from the pit areas on Promontory Point, the respondents' material could not compete with the large supply located in the vicinity of Brigham City some sixty miles away. (Tr. 71 and 72) (The respondents through their witnesses frequently attempted to prove the Brigham City area to be a market for their fill material). Mr. Fife expressly stated that at the times pertinent to the present law suits, no demand existed for the material and there was "no need for it," other than by appellant, at any price. (Tr. 74)

Another instance of prejudicial error in the respondents' cases occurred when their counsel asked Mr. Fife a hypothetical question based on the assumption that there was no gravel on Promontory and the material had to be hauled from Brigham City. Counsel added up the esti-

mated freight cost of such haulage, and then asked the witness if such a practice would bring the cost of gravel delivered at Promontory to \$5.65 a yard. The court permitted the question. Obviously, the assumption made in the question was contrary to the evidence that there was a large quantity of material at Promontory. More important, it is established law that the cost to the condemnor of bringing other material to a job site is irrelevant and highly improper to establish value of material (i.e. property) already there. (See *Orgel, supra, Volume 1, pages 352-353*).

For a real trip into the realm of speculation and fantasy, we invite the court's attention to all of the testimony of Mr. Ford, the next witness for respondents. Over objections of appellant's counsel, this witness was asked and permitted to answer questions ranging from the future business growth of the state of Utah to the possible future use of fill material on roads that might be constructed in the general area near Brigham City, but whose location and date of construction were not known to the witness. The only source of his knowledge of those proposed roads came from what he had read in newspapers. (Tr. 95) A typical statement made by this witness was in response to Mr. Oman's question asking him to give his opinion as to "what will be the condition within the next five or ten years for demand of that kind of material." The witness replied as follows: "We (whoever that is) are using more concretes every year, by the national surveys, and I think this type of material will be in greater demand as years go by." (Tr. 94 and 95) Then the witness covered the subject of future "industrial expansion." He testified:

“Well, I feel that there will be a considerable demand for fill material, an increased demand as we grow in this area.” The witness was also permitted to give his opinion as to how the present consumption of fill material compares with “what was consumed in this valley 25 years ago.” (Tr. 96.) The court also allowed Mr. Ford to testify concerning a 1954 purchase from the State of Idaho of certain materials by his company near Soda Springs, Idaho. (Tr. 98) Such a sale is so remote in time and place as to be irrelevant. That bit of incompetent information admittedly formed the basis for this witness’ speculative opinion of the value of respondents’ material. (Tr. 109)

On cross examination, Mr. Ford testified that he did not know whether there was a willing buyer for respondents’ Promontory Point material; that he did not know of anyone who would pay more than $2/10$ th of 1¢ per cubic yard for the material he examined at Promontory on behalf of respondents; that he knew of no person who wanted to buy the material at any price when the law suits were commenced nor at the present time; and that his valuation of the Promontory Point material of 5¢ per cubic yard was arrived at solely from the price paid in the above Idaho sale to his company. (Tr. 109)

PRESENTATION OF AUTHORITIES

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