1960

Southern Pacific Company v. Mrs. Helen Sheehan Arthur et al : Brief of Respondent Helen Sheehan Arthur

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF CERTAIN WITNESSES OF RESPONDENTS AS TO THE VALUE OF THE GRAVEL AND FILL MATERIAL TAKEN BY APPELLANT; AND IN RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE THE RESPONDENTS' EXHIBIT 2 SHOWING OTHER GRAVEL SALES.

POINT III

THE VERDICT IS NOT EXCESSIVE NOR THE RESULT OF PREJUDICE OF THE JURY, BUT IS IN KEEPING WITH THE TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESSES OF BOTH THE APPELLANT AND RESPONDENTS.

Counsel for the appellant takes the peculiar position that unless the defendants could present evidence of market value of the property taken at the exact place of taking, that our hands are then tied and we have no alternative but to accept the unconscionable offer made by the appellant of 2/10ths of a cent a cubic yard for the material that they might want.

Gravel pits or gravel deposits throughout the State of Utah have a definite and fixed value of between one and one-half cents to fifteen cents per yard, but the market for a particular gravel pit generally depends upon a demand being created in a particular locality caused by construction of some kind, sometimes roads, sometimes industries and sometimes from other sources and any particular gravel pit or deposit is made marketable generally because of two or three different things, and this was set out in particular by one of respondents' witnesses, Douglas J. Fife, who has been in the general contracting and sand and gravel business for thirty years (Tr. 64 line 12) and during that time has had occasion to bid on many public work jobs. He was asked the question:

"Q. What makes a pit desirable, Mr. Fife, for construction work?

A. Well, of course, the demand. If they're building a new road through a section of country and there are no pits available, we go out and prospect and find pits, and then negotiate with the owner to buy the material.

Q. What do you look for in locating those? What is the desire in regard to accessibility or grades or types of formation of the sand?

A. Well, of course, we generally look for gravel and we try to find a pit as close to the project as possible to cut down the haul. (Tr. 65, lines 2-13).

Mr. Jack Parsons, another witness for the respondents, is in the sand and gravel business both at Smithfield, Cache County, Utah, and Brigham City, Box Elder County, Utah, and has been in the business for 25 years. He testified that

in the course of time he had opened up many gravel pits (Tr. 132 line 18) and he was asked the following:

“Q. What makes a gravel pit valuable to you as a contractor?

A. I’d say location, quantity and quality and probably accessibility.” (Tr. 133 line 6).

He was asked further questions as follows:

“Q. Does the gravel become more valuable per cubic yard the closer you can get it to your project?

A. Right.

Q. Is that because of the haul problem?

A. Yes, the haul would be lessened and the gravel itself wouldn’t be any more valuable, but the cost in producing it would be less.” (Tr. 133 lines 18-24).

He was then asked this question as follows:

“Q. And you consider this of an average quality. Now, do you have an opinion as to what the fair reasonable market value was, as of the 22nd day of October, 1957, per cubic yard in place, of the gravel that was in the north pits? You can answer that “yes” or “no” whether you have an opinion.

A. I do not have an opinion.

Q. As to what its value was?

A. No, I have an opinion of what I’ve paid for material similar on my own projects, but to place a value there, I wouldn’t have an opinion.

Q. I’ll ask you this way. What have you paid for material of similar quality on your own projects.” (Tr. 135 lines 2-13).

Mr. O'Conner at that point wanted to voir dire the witness and asked him this question:

"Q. Where is that other material located?

A. Well, I have seventeen miles of interstate highway going approximately forty miles to the north of our said exhibit at the present time, and that is similar material.

Q. You mean you're selling gravel to a project some forty miles to the north of this pit; is that it?

A. I'm not selling it. I'm buying it. That is a state highway." (Tr. 135 lines 24-30).

The court allowed him to answer as follows:

"THE COURT: Just give us a figure, Mr. Parson.

A. Two cents a yard." (Tr. 136, line 17).

He was then asked if he had other projects going on throughout the State of Utah where he had purchased fill material of similar kind and grade and again Mr. O'Conner, attorney for appellant, sought to question him on voir dire and asked him where the jobs were located, as follows:

"A. Well, from Smithfield north, one project and Grantsville west. There are two projects there.

Q. Was the source of the material close to the job on those two?

A. Yes.

Q. How far away approximately?

A. Oh, probably four or five hundred yards from the highway.

MR. O'CONNER: I see. Go ahead.

BY MR. MANN:

Q. And what did you pay for those?

A. The lowest was a cent and a half and the highest

I think about eight cents.” (Tr. 137 lines 4-14).

He was then asked again, as follows:

“Q. But you have used fill material then between one and a half to eight cents?

A. Right.” (Tr. 138 lines 11-13).

and of course he had already testified that they were of the same kind and quality and quantity as that that the appellant was seeking to take.

On re-direct examination he was asked again, as follows:

“Q. Mr. Parson, isn't it a fact that any gravel pit that you have opened up for construction work, there was not a market for that particular gravel until your project came into being?

A. Right.

Q. And when the job came into being, then there was a demand for gravel in the locality?

A. That's right.

Q. And that created an immediate market for it?

A. Right.” (Tr. 141 lines 4-12).

At the close of the testimony of Mr. Parsons (Tr. 143) it was called to the court's attention that we had a Mr. Hunsaker and a Mr. Germer, both contractors using sand and gravel, and that their testimony would be similar to that of Mr. Parsons and counsel for appellant and myself both stipulated that they would testify similar to Mr. Parsons, and the court said:

“THE COURT: You understand that. If Mr. Germer and Mr. Hunsaker were called, he'd testify the same as Mr. Parsons.” (Tr. 143 lines 9-11).

Now, Mr. Fife, who was called (Tr. 68 line 2) testified that the average market value in his opinion was five cents per cubic yard. Melbourne Ford, who was called as a respondents' witness, who was also a general contractor and had been in the business since 1948 (Tr. 89 line 28) at Provo, Utah, (Tr. 100 line 21) testified that the material taken by the appellant was worth five cents per yard. J. Gibbons of the firm of Gibbons and Reed Construction Company (Tr. 41 line 21) testified that in his opinion (Tr. 46 line 3) that the material was worth five cents per cubic yard. Lee E. Young, an employee of the State Land Board (Tr. 118 line 13), who had been employed for a period of ten years as manager, executive secretary and director, and also as Chief Land Examiner, stated (Tr. 118 line 27) that his duties were land management, land appraisal, land sales, land acquisition and mineral and surface leasing, and he testified (Tr. 119 line 16) about the Promontory gravel:

"A. Well, I was there on a gravel inspection in July of 1955."

He further testified that he had received an application to lease gravel on Section 36, T. 7 N., R 6. W. S.L.M., which is the section just adjacent to the Hunter-Arthur lands that were condemned by the appellant. He said that one J. P. Underwood of Ogden (Tr. 120 line 20) was seeking to make a gravel lease upon this section and that he found gravel deposits on it. He was asked about the lease as follows:

"Q. And in regard to lease on section thirty-six, was that leased at the minimum or maximum?

A. The minimum for gravel.

Q. And can you tell us why this was leased at the minimum?

A. For the reason that it isn't too accessible and there is a lot of waste on the section. Accessibility isn't nearly as available as the adjacent lands in that vicinity. Some of the adjacent lands." (Tr. 123 lines 2-9).

He then testified that it was leased to the individual for one and a half cents per cubic yard and the lease entered into.

He further testified (Tr. 127 line 1) that they have leases entered into by their office as high as fifteen cents per yard for gravel.

Mr. O'Conner stated on his opening statement to the jury as follows:

" . . . Much of our case has been presented by the witnesses for the defendant; that is through parts where I cross examined and their own answers. . . . " (Tr. 247 lines 18-21).

Counsel for the respondents feels that Mr. O'Conner's statement is true, that he made his case and in doing so also made the case for the respondents. The court's attention is called to the fact that on his cross examination and when he was cross examining J. R. Gibbons (Tr. 49 line 21) in regard to the cost of removing or transporting the gravel, he asked the question:

"Q. Is seven cents a ton mile sound reasonable?"

And again to the same witness he said:

"Q. Now, if the truck rate is even five cents a ton mile—that is, five cents for every ton hauled a mile from Promontory Point to any market—wouldn't that make the purchase of it at this five cents a yard pro-

hibitive as far as competing with the Brigham City market?" (Tr. 51-lines 3-7).

In his cross examination of Douglas J. Fife, about the cost of hauling per ton mile, it states:

"A. Well, you might get it hauled for six cents, but I think your figure of seven cents is a good figure." (Tr. 71 lines 19-20).

On his cross examination of Melbourne Ford, asking about hauling costs:

"A. I'd say from five to seven cents a ton mile." (Tr. 110 line 21).

All of which impressed the jury of the value of having the material as accessible as possible. Then when its own witness, Denny Reynolds Bagley, the project engineer, took the stand, he testified under direct examination that the value per cubic yard of materials taken from the Chournos and Hunter-Arthur properties was:

"A. Two mills per cubic yard." (Tr. 300 line 19).

On cross examination he was asked the ratio of two mills to five cents and he told the jury it was 1-25 (Tr. 302). He had testified that he had bought some gravel during the construction from the Fife Sand and Gravel Company at Brigham City, and had paid \$1.35. He was asked the comparison between two mills and \$1.35 and he said it was about 1-600 (Tr. 302 lines 14 and 15). He was asked if he checked the pit area to make sure it met the qualifications necessary to make the road bed fill (Tr. 302) and he said it was suitable and desirable for their needs. He was asked if he had checked other areas for the purpose of satisfying their

needs and he advised (Tr. 304 line 13) that he had checked areas South and East and that they were at greater distances bearing up to a little over a mile further in distance.

Consequently, I say in all earnestness, that when Mr. O'Conner brought out from nearly each and every one of our witnesses that the haulage cost of gravel was seven cents a mile that he, through his own efforts, impressed upon the jury that because of the location of out pits and their accessibility that there was a consideration that any buyer would give if he sought to purchase from a willing seller. He was then asked about why they picked these pits and he said:

"A. They were picked because of the combination of location and quality." (Tr. 305 lines 5 and 6).

Later on, on re-cross examination by Mr. Oman, Mr. Bagley was asked (Tr. 306 line 10) if Southern Pacific, the appellant, did not have a gravel pit just north of the old Promontory Station and he admitted that they did. He was asked why they did not take the gravel from that location and he advised (Tr. 306 line 22) because of the distance. Mr. O'Conner had played on distance and costs and again I say that the location and quality of material on respondents' land, together with their availability to any purchaser either now or in the immediate future was impressed upon the jury by Mr. O'Conner.

The courts are, of necessity, given wide discretion in placing limits on the extent to which other comparable sales are admissible in evidence for the purpose of establishing a market value (see *Ramming Real Estate Co. vs. United States*, 122 F2d 892 (8th Cir. 1941); *Forest Preserve Dist. vs. Dra-*

per, 387 Ill. 149, 56 N.E. 2d 410 (1944); In re Edward J. Jeffries Homes Housing Project, 306 Mich. 638, 11 N.W. 2d 272 (1943).

The case of State of Utah vs. Peek, 265 P.2d 630, 1 Utah 2d 263 (1953), has been referred to and quoted on page 17 of the appellant's brief; however, the quotation is incomplete and not fully understood without the remaining portion of the quoted paragraph being given, which portion is as follows:

"This is a preliminary question for the trial judge to determine before such evidence is admissible, and his determination should be followed by the appellate court in the absence of an abuse of discretion. It is also within the sound discretion of the trial judge to limit the amount of such evidence in the interest of avoiding confusion of the issues and the undue consumption of time." (1 Utah 2d page 273).

Another case in point is Baetjer vs. United States, 143 F.2d 391, 397 (1st Cir.) cert. denied, 324 U.S. 772 (1944):

"The questions of whether such transactions are near enough in time, or involve substantially similar lands, or significant amounts of land are all questions of the remoteness of the evidence offered and in consequence are for the trial court."

In 20 C.J. page 777, under a title "Special Value to Taker and Adaptability to Purpose for Which Taken," the article says that we do not attempt, in condemnation proceedings, to have the value fixed on a basis of benefit which the property may be to the other party to the proceedings, but gives the exception, which is:

" . . . The true rule is that any use for which the

property is capable may be considered, and if the land has an adaptability for the purposes for which it is taken, the owner may have this considered in the estimate as well as any other use for which it is capable." (See cases cited thereunder).

Following this same theory in 29 C.J.S. on page 1028 we have, under "Special Value to Taker and Adaptability to Purpose for Which Taken" as follows:

"As stated supra Art. 136, compensation must be reckoned from the standpoint of what the landowner loses by having his property taken, not by the benefit which the property may be to the other party to the proceedings; therefore the value of the parcel to the condemnor, or the need of acquiring the particular parcel for the proposed improvement, or the value that would accrue to the land from the construction of the contemplated improvement, cannot be considered as an element of damage to the land owner; neither can an amount that has at some time been expended on the property in question, which has rendered it specially suitable for the use for which it is being condemned, be claimed by the landowner, but such improvements may be considered in so far as they enhance the value of the property. The rule that the value of the property to the condemnor is not to be considered does not mean that the adaptability of the land taken for the purposes of the condemnor may not be considered, along with any other uses for which the land is available, in determining its market value, provided the prospective demand for such use of the land by prospective purchasers or condemnors affects the present market value of the land."

There are many cases cited under this, two of which I wish to discuss. One is a California case, *Temescal Water Co. vs. Marvin*, 9 P2d 335. This was an action by a water com-

pany to condemn a reservoir site for the impounding of water and two hydraulic engineers testified. It appears from the evidence that they tried to testify and fix value to the condemnor according to his particular benefits, but not strictly market value and the court properly pointed out that the question was not what the property was worth to the person intending to acquire it, by condemnation, but it did state what could have been offered. On page 337, right hand column, it said:

“ . . . The jury had a right to consider the fact, in determining the market value, that the land in controversy was in proximity to a dam-site, and to consider its adaptability for reservoir purposes and to determine whether or not its market value had been enhanced by improvements put upon adjoining property; . . . ”

The court then went on to discuss a prior decision, being *City of Stockton vs. Ellingwood*, 275 P. 228, and in the right hand column, page 239, it said:

“In determining values in actions of eminent domain, where, for certain purposes, the lands are extremely valuable, and for other and different purposes are of little or no value, courts are confronted with many difficulties, the chief of which is sometimes the apparent fact that there is no market value, in the strict sense of the word, but that this does not entitle a plaintiff to take the lands sought to be condemned without paying just compensation.”

And the court again, quoted from *Spring Valley Water-Works vs. Drinkhouse*, 92 Cal. 528, 28 P.682:

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